1948

Lagoon Company, Saltair Beach Company, Cove Gas & Oil Company, Intermountain Theatres, Inc., and Uptown Theatre Corporation v. Utah State Fair Association, Aaron W. Tracy, Rulon S. Howells, Arthur L. Crawford, and Beehive Midways, Inc. :
Brief of Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF CASE

The plaintiffs brought this action in pursuance to the Utah Declaratory Judgment Act, U.C.A. 1943, Title 104, Chapter 4. As we understand the purpose of the proceeding it was to have declared void a contract between the Utah State Fair Association and the Beehive

Midway, Inc., a corporation, which contract had been approved by the Utah State Board of the Department of Publicity and Industrial Development which, together with its members were made parties defendants.

The contract which was brought in question provides:

A G R E E M E N T

THIS AGREEMENT, executed this 22nd day of May, 1946, by and between the UTAH STATE FAIR ASSOCIATION, party of the first part, hereinafter referred to as the Fair Board, and the BEEHIVE MIDWAYS, INC., a corporation, hereinafter referred to as the Company, WITNESSETH:

That for the considerations hereinafter set forth, it is hereby mutually agreed by and between the parties hereto as follows:

1. That the Company shall have the exclusive right to operate and license others to operate all amusement rides, games and shows upon the Utah State Fair Grounds during the years 1947, 1948, 1949, 1950 and 1951. The Fair Board expressly reserves the right to operate transportation around the Fair Grounds, check stands, souvenir concessions for the sale of official Centennial souvenirs, and to conduct entertainments sponsored by the Fair Board in front of the grandstand, in the coliseum and in the theater upon the Fair Grounds which may be given for the purpose of attracting the public to the grounds. The Company is not granted the right to operate or license others to operate concessions for the sale of foods and refreshments but may give foods

as prizes incidental to the operation of its amusement concessions.

2. That the Company shall have the right to renew and extend the term of this agreement for an additional five-year period after the expiration of the five-year term aforesaid upon the same terms and conditions as any other responsible operator is willing in good faith to offer, subject to the right of the Fair Board to operate itself any amusement rides, games or shows operated by the Company during the aforesaid term.

3. That the Company shall construct, operate and maintain a midway which shall consist of concession buildings, show buildings, amusement rides and a children's playground. Said midway shall occupy an area not less than 800 feet long and 210 feet wide at a location upon the Utah State Fair Grounds to be agreed upon by the parties hereto. The Company shall lay a hard-surfaced walk at least twenty feet in width contiguous to the fronts of the concessions, amusements and show buildings around the entire midway and such cross walks as are necessary and desirable. The Company shall place below such hard surfacing underground electrical conduit, if available, and if not, some adequate substitute adequate to supply all electrical needs of the buildings, rides and playground so constructed and to adequately light the midway.

4. That included within the midway and placed as shown upon plot plan heretofore submitted by the Company, the Company shall erect a children's playground which shall operate the kiddy rides hereinafter men-

tioned as well as other attractions for small children and wherein shall be operated a service for the care of small children at all hours of the day.

5. That the plans and type of construction of the buildings to be placed upon said midway shall be agreed upon in writing by both parties before construction commences.

6. That the Company shall erect and maintain not less than twenty concession buildings upon said midway which shall have a total frontage of not less than eight hundred feet, for which the Company shall pay to the Fair Board upon all concessions operated by the Company for the year 1947 upon the following basis:

For concessions occupying a front footage of

5 feet or less.....	\$ 250.00
6 feet to 10 feet	500.00
11 feet to 20 feet	1000.00
21 feet to 30 feet	1500.00
31 feet to 40 feet	2000.00
41 feet to 50 feet	2500.00

For all space sold by the Company to licensee-concessionaires, the Company shall pay to the Fair Board fifty per cent of the amount charged by the Company to said concessionaires. No concessionaires shall be sold space for less than twice the above schedule, unless mutually agreed upon in writing by the parties hereto.

7. All contracts executed by the Company with licensee-concessionaires shall first be approved in writing by the Fair Board. The Fair Board reserves the right to reject any proposed licensee-concessionaire whose

shows or games are objectionable or whose reputation is questionable.

8. That the Company shall erect three show buildings to house the fun house, the penny arcade and the freak show and shall erect three more show buildings to house such other shows as are available for major attractions.

9. That upon all concession space within the midway to be occupied by the Company, fifty per cent of the schedule set forth in paragraph 6 above shall be paid to the Fair Board at least one week prior to the opening of the midway and one-seventh of the balance shall be paid each week after the opening of the midway for seven consecutive weeks. That for any space sold by the Company to licensees the Company shall pay to the Fair Board one-half of any amount received from the licensee upon the signing of any agreement or lease of such space to such licensee, and one-half of any balance when and as received by the Company from the licensee. The Company shall require that the licensee pay not less than one-fourth of the sale price of the space so sold at the time of the execution of the agreement or lease, not less than an additional one-fourth thereof one week before the opening of the midway and the balance in not less than seven equal installments payable each week after the opening of the midway.

10. That the Company shall pay to the Fair Board twenty-five per cent of the gross admission price of all admissions of twenty-five cents or less, twenty per cent of the gross admission price of all admissions between

twenty-five cents and fifty cents, and fifteen per cent of the gross admission price of all admissions over fifty cents for all shows operated within the aforesaid six show buildings and any other show buildings which may be erected and maintained in addition thereto. All State and Federal taxes upon admissions shall be first deducted before computing the amount payable to the Fair Board upon admissions.

11. That the Company shall operate and maintain the following rides and such other rides as may be added upon which the Fair Board shall be paid twenty-five per cent of the gross admission prices after deducting State and Federal taxes, to-wit:

- 1 No. 16 Ferris Wheel
- 1 No. 5 Ferris Wheel
- 1 3-abrest Merry-Go-Round
- 1 Octopus
- 1 Fly-O-Plane
- 1 Roll-O-Plane
- 1 Boomerang
- 1 Looper
- 1 Spitfire
- 1 Kiddy Auto Ride
- 1 Streamlined Train
- 1 Kiddy Merry-Go-Round
- 1 Kiddy Ferris Wheel
- 1 Moon Rocket
- 10 Scooters

12. In the event the Centennial Celebration extends through the year 1948, the Fair Board shall be paid a percentage of the admissions of all rides and shows and shall be paid for concession buildings upon the front

footage basis as hereinbefore set forth the same as for the year 1947. In the event the Centennial Celebration does not extend through the year 1948, the Fair Board shall be paid for the year 1948 and for the years 1949, 1950 and 1951, one-half of all charges made by the Company to concessionaries. For concessions operated by the Company during said years, the Fair Board shall be paid for concession space an amount equal to one-half the front-footage rental charged concessionaires and the the same percentage of admission prices received on rides and shows as for the year 1947.

13. That all sums payable to the Fair Board for sales of concession space shall be paid on the 1st and 15th days of each month hereafter prior to the opening of the Centennial Celebration, and all percentage of admissions shall be paid weekly to the Fair Board during the Centennial Celebration or during the operation of the midway.

14. That the Company shall erect and maintain a stage approximately in the center of the midway whereon free entertainment shall be furnished each day as nearly as possible during the Centennial Celebration at the expense of the Company.

15. That all rides to be operated by the Company shall be new or reconditioned as new. That in the event any other concessionaire offers to install and operate any ride which would be an asset to the Centennial Celebration or the Fair which the Company does not desire to itself purchase and operate, such concessionaire shall be granted space and a license to operate by the Company

upon terms mutually agreeable to the Company and the Fair Board and to said concessionaire. The Company may refuse to grant a license to any concessionaire whose equipment is not comparable in condition and appearance with the rides to be placed upon the midway by the Company.

16. That at the expiration of the term of this agreement or any extensions or renewals thereof, all buildings or other improvements placed upon the midway shall become the property of the Fair Board, unless prior to the commencement of the erection thereof it shall be agreed in writing by the parties hereto that the same may be removed by the Company at the expiration of the term of this contract or at any other time. All rides, games and equipment shall remain the property of the Company.

17. That any buildings constructed by the Company prior to the opening of the Fair season of 1946 may be used by the Fair Board during the Fair season of 1946 upon a rental to be agreed upon between the parties hereto prior to the opening of said Fair season.

18. That the Company shall remove all buildings now upon the area upon which the midway shall be erected at the expense of the Company. The Fair Board shall furnish without cost to the Company all labor necessary for removing such buildings.

19. All contracts executed by the Company with any licensee-concessionaire shall be subject to approval in writing by the Fair Board. All said contracts shall provide that the admission fees or other charges collected

by the concessionaire shall be subject to the approval of the Fair Board and the Company; that the concessionaire shall keep full and accurate books of accounts of all his operations upon the Fair Grounds, which said books shall be subject to audit by the Fair Board and the Company at any time; and the concessionaire shall be subject to all the rules and regulations published by the Fair Board for the conduct of the Centennial and the Fair; that the license granted to such concessionaire may be cancelled for a breach of any such rules and regulations; and the concessionaire shall pay his own power bill and ticket takers and cashiers.

20. That the Fair Board may, at its discretion, employ all cashiers for the sale of admissions to rides and shows or any percentage concession operated either by the Company or its licensees. Such cashiers shall be paid by the Company or its licensees.

21. That the Fair Board shall maintain all rest rooms within the midway, shall provide sewage disposal and other sanitary facilities for the public use. That the expense of garbage disposal shall be paid by the concessionaires served.

22. That the Company shall provide at its own expense public liability insurance for the protection of the Company and the Fair Board against liability arising out of the operation of the midway and shall require that all licensees of the Company shall provide such public liability insurance for the protection of the Company and the Fair Board against all acts and omissions of said licensees.

23. That the admission fees to the Fair Grounds during the Centennial shall not exceed twenty-five cents per person for adults and fifteen cents per person for children. That no admission fee shall be charged for admission to the midway.

24. That the Company shall be subject to all the rules and regulations published by the Fair Board for the operation of the Centennial and the Utah State Fair and in the event the Company shall violate any of said rules and regulations and shall fail for a period of five days after such violation is called to its attention to cure said violation, this agreement may be canceled for such violation of such rules and regulations by the Company.

25. That the Company shall not charge concessionaires for buildings erected upon the midway by the Company for such concessionaires a price which will net the Company more than a reasonable profit upon the construction of said buildings.

26. It is understood that the exclusive food and refreshment concessions have heretofore been granted by the Fair Board to the Western Service Company, a corporation. The Company shall provide reasonable and adequate space within the midway for such stands as the said Western Service Company shall require. Such space shall be mutually agreed upon by and between the Company, the Fair Board and the said Western Service Company. Said Western Service Company shall pay to the Company for such space the proportionate cost of the improvement of the grounds in front of the space to be occupied by the Western Service Company. The

cost of the preparation of said space shall include the cost of removal of buildings, leveling and preparation of the ground, laying the hard surface, installing the electrical conduit and any other incidental expenses. Said Western Service Company shall have the right to erect its own buildings but the same must harmonize with and equal the quality of the buildings erected upon the midway by the Company. The Western Service Company shall pay its proportionate share of electricity used to light the midway as well as the electricity used by it in the operation of its buildings.

27. That in the event the total attendance each year at the Fair Grounds during 1947 and 1948 is less than 1,200,000, the amounts payable hereunder by the Company and its licensees shall be reduced in that proportion which the deficit bears to the number of 1,200,000.

28. That the Company shall commence construction of the midway and the buildings to be placed thereon not less than thirty days after the execution of this agreement and shall continue the preparation of said midway and the construction of the buildings thereon with reasonable diligence. Failure to diligently prosecute the preparation and construction of said midway shall constitute a breach of this agreement and the Fair Board may, upon ten days' notice in writing to cure the default and failure of the Company to cure said default, cancel and terminate this agreement. The Company shall be excused from performance by strikes, inability to purchase materials, acts of God or other causes beyond the control of the Company. In the event the Company

is prevented from erecting the buildings planned to be erected upon the midway because of strikes, inability to obtain materials, acts of God or other reasons beyond the control of the Company, the Company shall furnish the next best facilities or accommodations available such as tents or other coverings.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this instrument to be executed by their officers duly authorized this 22nd day of May, 1946.

ATTEST:
S. R. BREWSTER

Secretary

UTAH STATE FAIR
ASSOCIATION

By D. H. THOMAS

President

(Party of the First Part)

ATTEST:
JOHN G. MACKENZIE

Secretary

BEEHIVE MIDWAYS,
INCORPORATED

By

APPROVED:
UTAH STATE DEPART-
MENT OF FINANCE

By GORDON TAYLOR
HYDE

Chairman

JERROLD P.
BEESLEY

CHASE C. McDERMOND

President

(Party of the Second Part)

APPROVED:
UTAH STATE DEPART-
MENT OF PUBLICITY
AND INDUSTRIAL DE-
VELOPMENT

By AARON W. TRACY

Commissioner

ARTHUR L. CRAWFORD

APPROVED AS TO
FORM

GROVER A. GILES

Attorney General

By S. D. HUFFAKER

Deputy

After the original agreement was executed a supplemental agreement was entered into which provides:

AGREEMENT

THIS AGREEMENT, executed this.....day of April, 1947, by and between the UTAH STATE FAIR ASSOCIATION, party of the first part, hereinafter referred to as the Fair Board, and the BEEHIVE MIDWAYS, INC., a corporation, party of the second part, hereinafter referred to as the Company, WITNESSETH:

THAT, WHEREAS, on the 22nd day of May, 1946, the Fair Board and the Company mutually executed and delivered a certain agreement in writing under the terms of which the Fair Board granted to the Company the exclusive right to operate and license others to operate amusement rides, games and shows upon the Utah State Fair Grounds during the years 1947 to 1951, inclusive, with an option of renewal, and,

WHEREAS, said agreement by its terms provides among other provisions that the Company shall erect and maintain not less than twenty concession buildings upon the midway described therein having a total frontage of not less than eight hundred feet, and further that the Company shall operate and maintain fifteen rides upon said midway upon which there shall be paid to the Fair Board twenty-five per cent of the gross admission prices after deducting state and federal taxes, and,

WHEREAS, said agreement by its terms further provides that in the event the total attendance each year

at the Fair Grounds during 1947 and 1948 is less than 1,200,000, the amounts payable by the Company and its licensees shall be reduced in that proportion which the deficit bears to the number of 1,200,000, and,

WHEREAS, the Utah Centennial Commission with the approval of the Department of Publicity and Industrial Development desires to assume possession and control of the Fair Grounds during the period of March 21, 1947, to September 20, 1947, subject to the aforesaid agreement as hereby amended, and desires to expend large sums of money in renovating, beautifying and improving the Fair Grounds, and as a condition precedent to the acceptance of possession and control of said Fair Grounds, desires a modification of the aforesaid agreement executed by the Fair Board and the Company to provide that the aforesaid provision concerning attendance shall not be operative unless and until there shall have been paid under the terms of said agreement to the Centennial Commission as assignee of the Fair Board a minimum of \$96,000.00, and,

WHEREAS, the Fair Board is willing to modify in favor of the Company the provisions of the aforesaid agreement in consideration of the modification of said provision concerning attendance,

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and the considerations hereinafter set forth, it is hereby mutually agreed between the parties hereto as follows:

1. That the Fair Board does hereby accept as full performance of the provisions of the aforesaid agree-

ment concerning the erection of buildings, the buildings now erected upon the midway upon the Fair Grounds by the Company with a front footage of approximately five hundred feet, and accepts as full performance of the provisions of said agreement concerning the purchase and maintenance of rides by the Company, the following rides:

- 1 Kiddy Merry-Go-Round
- 1 Kiddy Autos
- 1 Fly-O-Plane
- 1 Roll-O-Plane
- 1 Moon Rocket
- 1 Boomerang
- 1 Looper
- 1 16-car Octopus
- 1 3-Abreast Streamlined Merry-Go-Round

which have heretofore been purchased by the Company and which shall be placed and maintained upon the Fair Grounds during the year 1947.

2. That the Company shall be required to erect no more buildings except two show buildings to house the penny arcade now under construction, the freak show and two more show buildings to house such other shows as are available for major attractions. The erection of these buildings shall be subject to the granting of permission to erect the same by Civilian Production Administration.

3. That the Fair Board shall approve a proposed contract now under discussion to be executed by Velare Brothers of Long Beach, California, and the Company, under the terms of which said Velare Brothers will place

upon the midway and maintain during the season of 1947 the following rides:

- 1 Scooter Building and 20 Cars
- Kiddy Race Cars
- 1 Double Ferris Wheel
- 1 Tilt-A-Whirl
- 1 Caterpillar
- 1 Pony Ride

upon a percentage basis to be agreed upon, and the Fair Board agrees to accept one-half of said percentage or percentages in lieu of the percentages provided in the aforesaid agreement executed between the parties hereto, as its proportion of the admissions to be charged for all rides to be so placed upon the midway by the said Velare Brothers.

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