1949

Lagoon Company, Saltair Beach Company, Cove Gas & Oil Company, Intermountain Theatres, Inc., and Uptown Theatre Corporation v. Utah State Fair Association, Aaron W. Tracy, Rulon S. Howells, Arthur L. Crawford, and Beehive Midways, Inc. :  
Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

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

It was stated in *Zoeller v. State Board of Agriculture* (Ky.) 173 S.W. 1143, 1144 as follows:

“ . . . The purpose of the holding of a state fair is to enlighten and educate all the people of the state in regard to the more advanced methods of agriculture, forestry, growing of livestock, and poultry, and to educate the people as to the most profitable kind of livestock to be raised, and the most suitable crops in which to till the soil, and the most advanced methods of doing same. It cannot be successfully contended that the enlightenment and education received by the people at the exhibitions given by the state board of agriculture are any less valuable or the information received there any less worthy of being disseminated by the state government than the education given in the public schools of the state.”

In re: *Rhea v. Newman* (Ky.) 156 S.W. 154, 160,  
the court made the following statement:

“The state fair is one of the great institutions of the state. It was created for the purpose of improving and educating the people of the state along highly important lines and no one will, or can, successfully contend that the state fair is not one of the most important and essential adjuncts of the state government. In these times of greatly increased population and the consequent increased demands for the products of the soil, no other line of business activity conduces as much to the public prosperity or improved farming methods. In order to keep abreast of the times our farmers must use the most improved methods, and the easiest way to induce them to do this is by causing them to see and thus become interested in what others are doing.”

The two foregoing cases clearly set forth the objects and purposes of a state fair association. The same is true of the Utah State Fair Association and is so recognized in the language of the statute itself. The Utah State Fair Association was created for educational purposes, and as such, acts in a governmental capacity as an arm of the state government. Both of the Kentucky cases heretofore quoted from held that the state fair was a *government function*.

The fact that the Utah State Fair Board was created for the purpose of improving and educating the people of this state in regard to more advanced methods of agriculture, growing of livestock, etc., is fundamental. The

further fact that the Utah State Fair Board, by its past operations, has strayed from this highly important purpose has been a subject of public concern. We hope we may have the indulgence of the court in referring to an article which appeared in the Salt Lake Tribune on January 20, 1949, on page 26, which is as follows:

### “FAIRS WANDER FROM GOALS, BUREAU SAYS

“Charging that recent state fairs have strayed from educational to entertainment affairs, fair committee members of the Utah State Farm Bureau federation Wednesday were preparing a request that the fair be returned to its original purpose.

“A committee headed by A. V. Smoot, Corinne, Box Elder county, was named at an earlier meeting to prepare recommendations for preparation to Gov. J. Bracken Lee on ways and means of placing the state fair on an educational basis and assuring agriculture its rightful position at the fair.

“Others named to the committee were Lee Thurgood, Clearfield, representing dairy breeders; Merrill Warnick, Pleasant Grove, Utah, Dairy federation; J. A. Howell, Ogden, state horticultural society, and Alvin Barton, Manti, Sanpete county, livestock interests.”

Respondents concede that the Utah State Fair Association may, while holding a biennial exhibition or annual exhibition, provide amusement rides, shows and games for the purpose of attracting people to the state



fair. However, the providing of these amusements, shows and games is only incidental to the main objective, which is education. The Utah State Fair Association was not created to promote amusement or provide profit to the State of Utah, which is certainly the result of the agreement with Beehive Midways, Inc. It is stated in 1 Cal. Jur., page 86, as follows:

“ . . . anything done by the state as to the general conduct of the state fair must necessarily relate to the general public welfare and cannot be construed, in any just sense, as an act for the promotion of business for a profit.”

Can it be said that providing the people of the State of Utah with amusement shows and games for a profit in any way relates to the general public welfare? The legislature specifically recognizes the proposition that the educational purposes of the state fair association shall not be subserviant to any other purpose.

In Sec. 85-4-7, the legislature has enumerated the purposes of the association and then specifically limited the authority of the association to lease its property. It limited the leasing of the property to periods during any portion of the interval between the holding of the annual and biennial exhibitions. If the legislature had desired long term leases of the association property, it would have not set forth this limitation.

Thus it will be seen that the authority of the Utah State Fair Association to lease its property is limited to private stock exhibitions, shows, racing meets and things

of a similar genus, and then only for a term during any portion of the interval between the holding of the annual or biennial exhibitions. The agreements with Beehive Midways, Inc. do not fall within the same genus as private stock exhibitions, shows and racing meets and certainly exceed the limitations in the statute relating to the term of any lease.

## II. THE STATE FAIR BOARD HAD AUTHORITY TO ENTER INTO THE LEASE AGREEMENT.

Much of the argument contained under this topic has been answered by respondents under the previous topic. In this argument the appellants in their brief again rely upon the proposition that the state fair association has the power to sell, buy or exchange property and, therefore, must have the authority to lease its property. We again invite the court's attention to the agreements themselves, which are not in any sense a lease of the property, but are rather an exclusive franchise or license granted to Beehive Midways, Inc. We would like also to point out again that the state fair association's authority to sell, buy or exchange property relates only to that property acquired since the original grant.

While it might be conceded that often times the power to sell includes the power to lease, we do not think this rule applicable in the instant case inasmuch as the statutes of the State of Utah (85-4-7) expressly limit the power of the state fair association in leasing its property.

Furthermore, while it may be true that under certain circumstances a city or similar entity may determine that its property devoted to a public use is not needed for such use either for a limited time or as part of its acreage and, therefore, can make leases accordingly, this rule is not applicable to the instant case, inasmuch as there is no showing that the property of the state fair association is not needed for a public use. Also, as has been stressed before, the agreements under consideration do not amount to the leasing of a certain portion of the state fair lands, but rather grant to Beehive Midways, Inc. the exclusive right to operate at any time of the year, amusement rides, games and shows on any and all parts of the state fair lands.

Respondents are of the opinion that the agreement under consideration violates the spirit of Article VI, Section 26, Subdivision 16, of the Constitution of the State of Utah, which prohibits the legislature from granting to an individual, association or corporation any privilege, immunity or franchise. The agreements under consideration grant to Beehive Midways, Inc. "the exclusive right to operate and license others to operate all amusement rides, games and shows upon the Utah state fair grounds" for a period of five years. This is certainly in the nature of a special franchise or privilege which the legislature of the State of Utah would be prohibited from granting. If the Utah State Legislature could not grant such a right, it is hard to understand how the Utah State Fair Association, which is an arm of the government, could do so.

III. STATE OFFICERS MAY ENTER INTO CONTRACTS SUCH AS THE LEASE AGREEMENT HERE INVOLVED EXTENDING BEYOND THEIR TERM OF OFFICE.

IV. THE PRESENT STATE FAIR BOARD MAY BIND THEIR SUCCESSORS IN A LEASE CONTRACT SUCH AS THAT HERE INVOLVED.

For convenience, respondents will argue the above two topics together inasmuch as they relate to the same subject matter.

The general rule of law relating to contracts extending beyond the term of public officers is stated in 43 Am. Jur., Page 101, as follows:

“The power of public officers to enter into contracts which extend beyond the terms of their offices depends primarily upon the extent of their authority under the law. A distinction has been drawn between two classes of powers,—governmental or legislative and proprietary or business. In the exercise of the governmental or legislative powers, a board, in the absence of statutory provision, cannot make a contract extending beyond its own term. But in the exercise of business or proprietary powers, a board may contract as any individual, unless restrained by statutory provision to the contrary. Obviously, contracts extending beyond the terms of the officers executing them will be held invalid where the making of the contracts tends to limit or diminish the efficiency of those who will succeed the incumbents in office or usurps power which was clearly intended to be given to the successors.”

The lease and supplemental agreement under consideration extends beyond the term of office of the members of the Utah State Fair Board (See Exhibit E), and certainly would limit and diminish the efficiency of their successors in the performance of their duties. If the lease and supplemental agreement should be held to be valid, then the successors of the present members of the Utah State Fair Board would be bound by their terms and conditions regardless of the necessity of any change of policy, plans or conditions.

As to whether the State Fair Board acts in a governmental or proprietary capacity in leasing the association's property, reference can be made to those cases wherein state fair boards have been sued in tort. In tort actions the general rule is that a governmental agency cannot be held liable if it is acting in a governmental capacity. It has been generally held that state fair boards in conducting state fairs exercise a governmental function. See 52 A. L. R. 1405, 1407. In the case of *Zoeller v. State Board of Agriculture* (Supra), it was held that the Kentucky State Board of Agriculture was an agency of the state and could not be held liable in tort inasmuch as it was acting in a governmental rather than in a private capacity. The Kentucky State Board of Agriculture was a state corporation having the right to sue and be sued. It was not a corporation for a pecuniary profit and was empowered to conduct state fairs. All profits, if any, derived from the conduct of the state fairs were to be paid into the State Treasury. The Kentucky State Board of Agriculture was, in relation to state fairs, in

a similar position to the Utah State Fair Association. The Utah State Fair Association is a governmental agency not formed for a pecuniary profit; it has the right to sue and be sued and is empowered to conduct state fairs.

Thus, using the case of *Zoeller v. Board of Agriculture* as an analogy, the Utah State Fair Association could not be held liable in tort in the exercise of any of its functions inasmuch as such functions are governmental and it could not enter into a contract beyond the terms of the officers for the same reason.

Moore v. Lucern County, 262 Pa. 216, 105 Atl. 94; Weir v. Day, et al, 35 Ohio St. Ap. 143.

In *Stowe v. Hartford Fair Grounds Association, et al*, 249 Mich. 107, 227 N. W. 702, a twenty-five year lease from the defendant Hartford Fair Grounds Association, a profit corporation, was executed to the defendant, Van Buren County Agricultural and Horticultural Society, a non-profit corporation, at a nominal rental of \$1.00 per year. In the course of the opinion the court states:

“The circuit court judge held that the lease for twenty-five years was void. There was no necessity for giving a lease for this length of time under the conditions as hereinbefore set forth. It amounted practically to a sale of the assets and without any action by the stockholders \* \* \* .

“The evidence in this case shows that the consideration in the least was adequate and proper. However, it might develop during the balance of the term of the corporate franchise or a

renewal thereof that the agricultural society or some other responsible lessee might be able to run a fair at a profit without any subsidies and exempt from taxation. In that event if a more profitable offer for a lease could be secured the fair association should not be in a position where it would forever be precluded from accepting such offer. The judge was correct in holding that the lease for twenty-five years was void."

Appellants argue that the agreements under consideration were entered into by the state fair association as an exercise of its proprietary functions rather than as an exercise of its governmental functions. With this, of course, the respondents violently disagree. As has previously been pointed out, the fair association is an arm of the government, designed for the purpose of educating the people and, therefore, a governmental function. It was not created for the purpose of providing the state with revenue or profit. In this connection appellants, on page thirty-seven of their brief, admit that the agreements were executed solely for the purpose of raising revenue. This being true, it is certainly outside the scope of the purposes and objectives of the Utah State Fair Association. Appellants feel that all discussion and argument by appellants relating to the Centennial celebration and the Utah Centennial Commission is immaterial and irrelevant. The Utah Centennial Commission was never a party to the agreement.

To the matter in question it is immaterial as to the status of the stockholders of Beehive Midways, Inc. pertaining to recovering back any money which they have

expended. They expended money in an attempt to make a profit solely for their own benefit. Whether they make a profit or not is immaterial in this proceedings.

The agreements under consideration would certainly limit and circumvent successors in office as to their control of future state fairs. If the successors to the present members of the Utah State Fair Association are bound by the terms of these agreements, they would not in the future be able to provide what they might think is the proper form or type of amusement which would be most likely to attract the general public to the state fairs.

V. THE STATE OF UTAH AND ITS FAIR ASSOCIATION IS ESTOPPED FROM QUESTIONING THE VALIDITY OF THE LEASE AGREEMENT, AND THE RESPONDENTS MAY NOT WAIVE SUCH ESTOPPEL.

Respondents find it rather difficult to discuss the proposition set forth in this topic inasmuch as the same is certainly unique. As we follow the argument of the appellants, it is to the effect that the State of Utah cannot question the validity of the agreements because the stockholders of Beehive Midways, Inc. have expended considerable money. Therefore, the State of Utah would be estopped from questioning the validity of the agreements, and this being true, the respondents and the general public are also estopped. We are unable to follow this line of reasoning. Certainly the respondents have done nothing which could be construed as creating an



estoppel which might exist in favor of Beehive Midways, Inc. as against the State of Utah.

If the fair association, in the first instant, did not have the requisite authority to enter into the agreement, then nothing that either the fair association or Beehive Midways, Inc. did thereafter could validate the agreement. The sole question is, did the fair association, under the Utah statutes, have the authority to enter into the agreements? Respondents contend that the answer is definitely in the negative.

As was held in *Campbell Building Company v. State Road Commission*, (Supra) the authority of public officers is limited to the terms of the statute conferring such authority, and any person doing business with the state by way of contract or otherwise, must take notice of the limitations on the authority of the officers or agents of the state.

Furthermore, the issue of estoppel was not raised in the pleadings, and it is a settled rule of law in this jurisdiction that a party, in order to avail itself of the defense of estoppel, must plead the same.

Campbell v. Nunn (Utah) 2 P. 2d 899; Barber v. Anderson (Utah) 274 P. 136.

Respondents also doubt that the question of estoppel, even though properly pleaded, could be raised in this type of action. The action is for a declaratory judgment wherein the court is asked to make an interpretation of a contract and declare it either valid or void. It would

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